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2
3
4 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
5 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
6
7 JOHN COSTABILE, Case No. 17-cv-00458-JSW
8 Plaintiff,
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS'
9 V. MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFF'S
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT
10 NATUS MEDICAL INCORPORATED, et
al., Re: Dkt. No. 29
11
Defendants.
%‘ = 12
8 % 13 Now before the Court for consideration is tnotion filed by NatuMedical Incorporated
o
*5 u(; 14 || (“Natus Medical”), James B. Hawkins, and Jitvaen A. Kennedy (collectively, “Defendants”)
QO =
@ g 15 || seeking to dismiss this securgielass action. The Court hameidered the parties’ papers,
=2
% 2 16 || relevant legal authority, and the record in ttase, and the Court finds the motion suitable for
T =
8 2 17 || disposition without oral argumengee N.D. Civ. L.R. 7-1(b). For the reasons set forth below, the
c e
- § 18 || Court HEREBY GRANTS Defendants’ motion testhiss, but will afford Plaintiff leave to
19 || amend.
20 BACKGROUND
21 Plaintiff John Costabilelleges that he purchasedtha Medical common stock at
22 || “artificially inflated” prices due to alleged megpresentations and omissions made by Defendants
23 || regarding a supply contraloetween a Natus Medicalibsidiary and the \iezuelan Ministry of
24 || Health! Plaintiff seeks to represent a class bfralividuals who purchased or acquired Natus
25 || Medical stock during the Classritel (defined as October 16, 20a6d April 3, 2016). (Dkt. No.
26
27 s Though not in the FAC, in the documentatsupporting Plaintiff’'s motion to become lead
og || plaintiff in this action, Plaintiff represerdene purchased 2,000 shares on March 15, 2016 and
eventually sold those shares on April 8, 2016. (Dkt. No. 14-3.)
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25, First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) 11 1, 122.)
A. Natus Medical and the Supply Contract wih the Venezuelan Ministry of Health.

Natus Medical is a company which designs, manufactures, and markets newborn carsg

neurology healthcare productsdaservices worldwide.ld.q 2.) On October 16, 2015, Defendant

James Hawkins, Natus Medical's CEO, andedbdant Jonathan Kennedy, the CFO, announced
that Natus Medical, tlough its wholly-owned Argentinian sub&dy Medix I.C.S.A. (*"Medix”),
had entered into a three-ye$232.5 million supply contract to provide medical equipment,
supplies, and services to thenistry of Health of Veezuela (“Supply Contract”).Id. 13.) In

the announcement, Defendants represented@®amillion in prepayments under the Supply
Contract were expected liye first quarter of 2016.1d. 11 3, 50).

The announcement of the Supply Contract was received as a significant development
analysts. $ee, e.g., id. 11 4-5.) On Octobbe1, 2015, Defendants issued a press release which
qguoting Hawkins, provided details regarding tmpact of the Supply Contract on Natus
Medical’s revenue forecasts. &jifically, after citing the Supy Contract, Defendant Hawkins
noted how Natus Medical had increased its revguigance for the fourth quarter of 2015 by $3
million and its non-GAAP earnings per share from $ 0.47 to $0M4 §3.) Hawkins also
indicated that Defendants werac€reasingly confident that we can achieve and potentially exce
our long term operating margin goal of 20% in 2016d.)(

That same day, Defendants held a conference call with analysts to discuss Natus Me
earnings. A number of representats were made during this caffor example as with the prior

press releases, Defendants repnésd that the Supply Contraebuld have a positive impact on

Natus Medical’s revenue, with payments frora #greement being anticipated by the first quarte

of 2016. (d. 1 55.) For instance, Hawkins told analysts:

Last Friday we announced thMedix . . . signed a three-year
agreement with the Ministry oHealth of Venezuela for $232.5
million to supply Venezuela with neonatal and obstetric equipment
supplies and services. As stateaur filing, we are to receive three
payments totaling $69 million by thee of the first quarter of 2016.
Prepayments are to continue thrbagt the contract period as we
fulfill our requirements. We expect to commence on this contract in
our fourth quarter, but revenue éxpected to be minimal in the
fourth quarter.
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(Id.) Later in the call, an analyst asked Hawtmgrovide additional information on how the
Supply Contract would contritbeito Natus Medical’s reveewand earnings in 2016. Hawkins
answered by again referringaaticipated payments being reaaiMn the fourth quarter of 2015

and first quarter of 2016:

We expect to receive some paymemse by the endf the year, to
start those three payments totaling the $69 million. And then to—
most likely those would extend into the first quarter of next year . . .
As we—way this contract is, we're going to be prepaid throughout
the entire contract.

(Id. 1 57.) Hawkins further inditad that Natus Medical hadpnservatively, included a “couple
of million dollars” in its fourthquarter 2015 guidance attribukalbo the Supply Contract.
(1d.959.)

In addition, during the confence call Kennedy made the poifithighlighting that the
Supply Contract was not the firsontractual arrangement betweaba Ministry of Health and
Medix. Kennedy instead referenced how the Su@Quntract represented a “continuation of an
ongoing relationship.” 1.9 61.) Specifically, Kennedy addressed how, around 2010, Medix
completed an almost $100 million deal withrieuela, thus demonstrating the “ongoing
relationship between Medix and ott&outh American countries.”ld)

Finally, analysts during the call asked abibat currency exchangeski inherent in the

Supply Contract. I¢l. 1 63.) Kennedy asserted that ttek ivas “minimal” because Natus Medical

was protected by the fact thaetBupply Contract was “denominated in dollars, and our payme
is a dollar-denominated payment.rd.
The representations by Hawkins and Kenngalytinued into November and December

2015 at various healthcare conferences.NOvember 19, 2015, during his opening remarks to ¢

conference, Hawkins expressed “pride” at Nafieglical's financials and lauded the “major” $232

million Supply Contract. I¢l. 1 65.) Hawkins not only touteéte ultimate value of the Supply
Contract, but emphasized that NaMedical was to “be paid upoint as we go on this business”
with the first payment expected “by the end & ylear, and .. . . contil[ing] throughout the life
of the contract.” Id.)

At least one analyst at the confereasked how confident Hawkins was regarding
3

ad

nt

1S4




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o ~N o 00~ W N PP O © 00w ~N o o M W N B O

Venezuela’'s ability to perform on the Supplgr@ract over the entithree-year term.Id.  67.)
Hawkins responded to this question by acknowlegldinat there is “alwasya potential risk with
any contract.” Id.) He then sought to downplay this risi pointing to Medix$ prior contractual

relationship with Venezuela:

Yes, so, always a potential risktlviany contract. The one thing |
would say with this one, beforge bought our subsi@ry, which is
located in Buenos Aires, which is who received this order, a
company called Medix, they had received an $82 million order
maybe seven years ago and it caim®ugh just fine. The money
showed up as expected, and it did happen.

So we have pretty good confidentbat it should happen. We have
been told the money is set asidad we are looking to get our first
payment here by the end of December.

(1d.)

At a similar December 1, 2015 healthcanaference, Hawkins again lauded the “very
large order that [Natus Medical] receiviedm Venezuela totaling $ 232.5 million.’Id( { 71.)
As he had in October and November, he agaserted that Natus Medical was anticipating

receiving revenue under the Supplgri@ract before the end of 2015:

We look to some of these revenuestart in December. We expect
to get our first $23 million payment in the weeks ahead and then
we’ll be prepaid on all of this ase go forward on a rolling basis.
It's quite a big order fous and we are very eixed to not only have

it ourselves, but also for the babiand mothers in Venezuela.

(Id.) Later, in response to a request from anyatdbr additional details, Hawkins again pointed

to the imminent commencement of paymemtd @&s impact on Natus Medical’s financials:

The money . . . that we are recetyifor this purchase is all in US
dollars. And there always is some potential currency risk as we
transfer those dollars into Argeme pesos to do the purchasing and
delivering of product. But overalbver this three-year period, we
are convinced it's going to be a good piece of business for us.

It will have average corpomatmargins of 18% to 20%. And
although the gross profits won't be near that, but the bottom line
operating margin should be the sant® we are quite encouraged.
We’'re expecting to get paymentrkein the next few weeks and
looking for this to kick off . . . .

(Id. 7 73.)

In summary, throughout the fourth quaé£2016, Defendants represented that the Supy
4
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Contract was a done deal that would haveyaiicant positive impact on Natus Medical’'s
revenue, starting in the fourth quarter of 20R&. alleged in the FAC, the market responded
favorably to this news, and on December 17, 201%)dNisledical shares reached an all-time hig}
closing price of $50.48 per shared.(f 12.)

B. The Alleged Undisclosed Truth.

Plaintiff, however, alleges that the abovpresentations regarding the existence of the
Supply Contract and its potentiatpact on Natus Medical’'s renae were false and misleading
for a number of reasons.

First, and most fundamentally, Plaintifrdends that that there was no enforceable
contract at all. Platiff relies on a confidential withessG¥W1”) who served as the Venezuelan
Ministry of Health’s Purchasing Coorditoa between February 2016 and July 201@l. { 40.) In
this role, CW1 was responsible for “preparingeruotes, handling andaintaining information
regarding payments due under contracts for pueshasd services, anétking receipt of goods
and services.” I{l. 11 40.) Plaintiff alleges that CWihks represented that the Supply Contract
was “substantially negotiated” lead up to the fourth quarter @015, but not actually executed.
(Id. 143.) As aresult, Plaintifisgerts there was, in fact, no Syp@lontract in the fourth quarter
of 2015 or first quarter of 2016, thus rendering alDefendant’s statemensbout that contract
(and its potential impact on revenue) misleadingec8gally, he asserts that because the Supply
Contract was not executed, no prepayments wéedsided or owed in the fourth quarter of 2015

or first quarter of 2016, contrary efendants representationsd. ([ 42.)

Second, even if the Supply Contract had beearcuted, Plaintiff contends that Defendants

did not disclose to investors that the MinistryH#alth failed to make required payments. As
detailed above, Defendants repeatedly assertethiéaexpected the Minist of Health to begin
making prepayments by the first quarter of 201@&irff contends that these representations
were misleading, however, because the termseo$Stipply Contract required the Ministry of
Health to make prepayments in October, November, and December 281%13.) None of
these prepayments were timely made. In falatintiff alleges thaby December 1, 2015—when

Defendants were still touting the imminent receipthe pre-payments—the Ministry of Health
5
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was $47 million in default under the terms of 8upply Contract as the October and November
payments had not been mad&d. { 72.)

Third, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants faileddisclose that the Supply Contract left
Natus Medical with no effective means to enfdtseights under the agreemt. Plaintiff relies
on the fact that the Supply Coatt provided that any questioointerpretation, application, and

performance of the contract would be governethieylaws of Venezuela with the City of Caraca

\"&4

being the “special domicile” for such enforcemend. {| 47.) According t®laintiff, this left
Defendants with “no means of effectively enforcing their rights utideSupply Contract”
because they would be forced to litigat@iNenezuelan court against the Venezuelan
government.l@. § 48.) In support of this contentionalitiff points to theallegedly “turbulent
legal, political, and economic systems in ¥eunela” and the Venezuelan government’s alleged
intrusion into the independenoéthe judicial system.1d.)

Compounding this issue, Plaintiff conteridat contracts with the government of
Venezuela were often disregarded when ministerg replaced. CW1, for example, asserts that
“Here things happen in a different way. The minig@wves and everythingahhe does that isn’'t
invoiced gets lost — if the money is not comndtteOne thing is a promise to do a contract and
another thing is a contract.’Id( 1 49.) Given this reality, Rintiff contends that Defendants
either were aware, or should have been awhat imminent elections in Venezuela meant that
there was a significant risk thitae unsigned Supply Contract would never come to fruitibeh) (

Fourth, Plaintiff asserts thatwas misleading for Defendanto bolster public perception
of the Supply Contract by referencing the pagreement prior between Venezuela and Medix.
While acknowledging that Medix and the VeneameMinistry did have a prior agreement in
2011, Plaintiff contends that the prior agreentkdtnot match Defendants’ rosy description.

Again relying on CW1, Plaintiff alleges that the prior agreement “failed to come to completior

and was cancelled or suspended when the final amounts owing under the contract were not paid

Medix by the Ministry of Health.” Ifl.  44.) Another confidemal witness (“CW2"), who
worked as Natus Medical’s Director of OpBons in Argentina from 2011 to 2013, supports

CWT1'’s description, stating thatelprior agreement “was alwaystime air. Medix was always
6
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trying to close it” and that there had beéihiatory of difficulties with payments with
Venezuela.” Id. 1 46.)

Fifth, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants misregmeted to investorsadhthe Supply Contract
called on the Ministry of Health to make payments in dollard. §(63.) In fact, Plaintiff
contends that the Supply Contraells for payments to be maute*Argentinian Pesos at the
current exchange rate for thffective day of payment.”|d. 1 64.)

C. Problems with the Supply Contract Materialize.

Plaintiff alleges that theuth about the Supply Contract—thheld from investors during
the fourth quarter of 2015—began to come to light in January 2016.

On January 11, 2016, Natus Medical filed ak&-K which announced that the company
had failed to meet its revenue guidance for thetfoguarter of 2015. Thetathed press release,
signed by Kennedy, blamed this on the fact thatprior guidance had “included expected
revenue of approximately $4 million under the new&auelan Ministry of Health contract” but
the expected prepayment had been “delayeldl’f(75.) Instead, Kennedy revealed the compan
“now expects to receive prepayment and beipments in the first quarter of 20161d.] He
stated that $5 million of revenue from thepPly Contract was included in the new revenue
guidance for the first quarter of 2016 &&D million for the full year guidance.

Similarly, on January 27, 2016, another Forid &as filed which again blamed the fourth
quarter 2015 shortfall on“delay” in prepayments under the Sup@ontract and this time made &
general reference to unspecified “risks agsed with our Veazuela contract.” 1¢. 1 80.)
Similar representations were made dgra conference call that same dalyg. {1 82.) During
that call, and in response to a question from afyaty Hawkins expressed “confid[ence] that thig
business will happen” and stated it was “safagsume guidance implies about $0.20 in earning
from Venezuela this year.”ld. § 84.) Kennedy similarly assad analysts regarding economic
benefit of the Supply Contract, lsyating “[i]f | had a gun to mhead and had to predict, it's
probably in the mid-40%s for a gross profit margin.d. § 86.)

Plaintiff contends that thegartial disclosures of a “delaghd references to unspecified

“risks” were themselves misleading as they fatledisclose known fundaental risks and issues
7
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with the Supply Contract.ld. 1 77, 87.) For instance, Defenttacontinued to not disclose the
fact that three pre-payments had beessed during the fourth quarter of 201%d.)(

Analystsexpressedeservain about the prospects of the Supply Contract and at least
some analysts removed the Supply Contract from their guidaBeeid({ 88.) Consequently,
shares of Natus Medical declined. On Japdd, 2016, Natus Medical closed at $38.25, down
from $43.20, after a day of unudlyehigh trading volume. I¢l.  76.) On January 27, 2016,
following the second Form 8-K and conferenck, déatus Medical closed at $34.71, down from
$37.15, again on abnormally high trading volumigl. { 89.)

On February 29, 2016, Natus Medical filed itd2®orm 10-K. Significantly, attached to
the Form 10-K was an (unsigned) copy of the Supply Contract—the first time the Supply Cor
had been publicly releasedd.(f 92.) This revealed (1) thadt that approximately $70 million in
prepayments had been missed in the fourtltgquaf 2015, and (2) thallegedly problematic
forum and venue selection clauséd. ([ 92, 93.) Additionally, in the Form 10-K, Defendants
disclosed that recent elections in Venezuelafgéntina had resulted iisignificant political
changes.” Id. 1 91.) Defendants warned that this, comal with a “highly inflationary economy
and recessionary economic conditions,” could “impact the likelihood of the Venezuelan Minig
of Health’s following through witlorders under the agreementd.] Defendants further
disclosed that Medix had “not tyeeceived any prepayments undex #yreement” and that in the
absence of prepayments, Natus Medical would not receive “any benefit” from the Supply
Contract.” (d.)

In the wake of these discla®gs, the price of Natus Medicsthares again declined, closing
at $36.32 on February 29, 2016, down from $37.2d..1/(95.)

During a March 14, 2016 investor call, Hawkitmally conceded that analysts could
discount the expected revenuesnirthe Supply Contract but doimued to maintain that the
company “really believe[s] this is going to happend. { 97.) He acknowledged that the countr
of Venezuela was “quote, in the toilet” and tftaging to handicap exdly when, with all the
changes going on in both governments, Minisfridealth, oil prices, it has made it very

difficult.” (1d.)
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Approximately three weeks later, on Aptil2016, Natus Medicassued a press release
releasing its preliminary firgjuarter 2016 revenue resultdd. (] 99.) The press release stated
that Natus Medical had failed to meet its prewenue guidance and that Natus Medical did not
have “any revenue associated with the Venezu@hgstry of Health contract as [it] did not
receive any prepayments during the quarteld’) (In the wake of this press release, Natus
Medical shares fell to $31.84 per share, down feopnevious close of $39.64 — a loss of nearly

20% on unusually high trading volumdd.(f 100.)

On April 20, 2016, Natus Medical released its final first quarter 2016 results. These result

demonstrated that Defendants had slashed WNégdsgcal's fiscal yeaP016 guidance. In the
guidance, Defendants conceded that they ctmddonger include revenuar earnings from the
agreement in . . . guidance until there is nadagity” on the Ministry of Health’s performance
under the agreementld(f 101.)

D. Claims Asserted in this Action.

The first amended complaint in this actionsvigded on July 14, 2017. Plaintiff alleges that
Defendants’ allegedly false or misleading stateimgiolated (1) sectiohO(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act’), 153JC. § 78j(b), and Securities Exchange
Commission Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.&240.10b-5; and (2) section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 78t. Id. 11 130, 138.) Defendants have movedismiss these claims for failure to
state a claim under Federal Rules of Civil Prace®(b) and 12(b)(6). (Dkt. No. 29, Motion, at
1)

APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD

A motion to dismiss is proper under Rule 12(pM#ere the pleadings fail to state a claim
upon which relief can be granted. The complaibisstrued in the lighthost favorable to the
non-moving party, and all matatiallegations in the compfd are taken to be truésandersv.
Kennedy, 794 F.2d 478, 481 (9th Cir. 1986). The Conaty consider the facts alleged in the
complaint, documents attached to the complaiocuments relied upon but not attached to the
complaint when the authenticity of those documentsot questioned, arather matters of which

the Court can take judicial notic&ucco Partners LLC v. Digimarc Corp., 552 F.3d 981, 990 (9th
9
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Cir. 2009)

Under Rule 8(a), a plaintiff need only prdeia “short and plain statement of the claim
showing that the pleader is entitled to relieEven under this liberal pleading standard, “a
plaintiff's obligation to providehe ‘grounds’ of his ‘entitle[mentp relief’ requires more than
labels and conclusions, and a formulaic recitatiothefelements of a cause of action will not do,
Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (citirgpasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265,
286 (1986)). Pursuant iavombly, a plaintiff must not merely all conduct that is conceivable
but must instead allege “enough f&atd state a claim to relief thatplausible on its face.ld. at
570. “A claim has facial plausility when the plaintiff pleads factbeontent that allows the court
to draw the reasonable infementhat the defendant is lialdter the misconduct alleged Ashcroft
v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (citifgvombly, 550 U.S. at 556). While this standard does
not impose a “probability requirement,” it nonetheless “asks for more than a sheer possibility
a defendant has acted unlawfully. . . . Whenragaint pleads facts that are merely consistent
with a defendant’s liability, it stops short okthine between possibility and plausibility of
entitlement to relief.”ld.

A heightened pleading standard, however, apphighis case. Plaintiff is alleging that
Defendants engaged in a pattern of fraudulemisteading representations in violation of the
Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Accordingly, Ridi's FAC must meeboth the heightened
pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) and the &a\Securities Litigation Rerm Act (“PSLRA”).

See Zucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 990,

Under Rule 9(b), a plaintiff allegingdud must allege “with particularity the
circumstances constituting fraud or mistake.” FedCR. P. 9(b). In thesecurities context, the
PSLRA requires that a “complaint ‘plead wihrticularity both fésity and scienter.””Zucco
Partners, 552 F.3d at 990 (quotingompper v. VISX, 298 F.3d 893, 895 (9th Cir. 2002).
Accordingly, a securities plaintiff alleging materralsstatements or omissions must “specify ea
statement alleged to have been misleading, toreor reasons why the statement is misleadin
and, if an allegation regarding the statemeramission is made on information and belief, the

complaint shall state with particularity all facts which that belief is formed.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-
10

that




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o ~N o 00~ W N PP O © 00w ~N o o M W N B O

4(b)(1). To adequately plead scienter, B&LRA requires that the plaintiff “state with
particularity facts givingise to a strong inference that thdeelant acted with the required state
of mind.” 1d. § 78u-4(b)(2).

DISCUSSION

Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act providegalevant part, that is unlawful “to use or
employ in connection with the purchase or salarf security registered on a national securities
exchange . . . any manipulative or deceptive demia®ntrivance in contravention of such rules
and regulations as the [Securities and Exchangejriission may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)|
Rule 10b-5, promulgated under theharity of section 10(b), nkas it unlawful for any person,
engaged in interstate commerce, to: (a) employdanice, scheme or artifice to defraud; (b) to
make any untrue statement of madkfact or to omit to state a matd fact necessary in order to
make the statements made, in light of thewonstances under which they were made, not
misleading; or (c) to engage in any act, p@gtor course of busiae which operates or would
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any persargnnection with the purese or sale of any
security. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

To state a claim under section 10(b) &ule 10b-5, a plaintiff must allege: (1) a

misrepresentation or omission; (2) of matefa&kt; (3) made with scienter; (4) on which the
plaintiff justifiably relied; (5) thaproximately caused the allege losSee Binder v. Gillespie,
184 F.3d 1059, 1063 (9th Cir. 1999). Where, as lzepaintiff alleges &control person” claim
under section 20(a) claim which is based on an uyidgriiolation of sectn 10(b), the pleading
requirements are identical for both claing&e, e.g., In re Ramp Networks, Inc. Sec., 201 F. Supp.
2d 1051, 1063 (N.D. Cal. 2002re also City of Dearborn Heights Act 345 Police & Fire
Retirement Sys. v. Align Tech., Inc., 856 F.3d 605, 623 (9th C017) (“Plaintiff has not
sufficiently alleged violations dbection 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.nd, without ‘a primary violation
of federal securities law,’ Plaintiff cannot establcontrol person liability.” (citation omitted)).
A. Whether Plaintiff Has Alleged Actionable Misrepresentations or Omissions.

Under Rule 9(b) and the PSLRA, a plaintiff shtidentify[] the statements at issue and

set[] forth what is false or misleading about si@ement and why the statements were false or
11
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misleading at the time they were madéi’re Rigel Pharm., Inc. Sec. Litig., 697 F.3d 869, 876
(9th Cir. 2012). Notably, this requirement appliesdich challenged representation or omission.
See, e.q., Dall v. SarsHolding Co., No. 05-cv-01132 MMC, 2005 WL 2811767, at *3 (N.D. Cal.
Oct. 27, 2005) (noting plaintiffs must “specifyetheasons why each such statement or omission i
false or misleading”). For purposes of Rule 10l-Statement is misleading “if it would give a
reasonable investor the impressioradcitate of affairs that differs a material way from the one
that actually exists.'In re Cutera Sec. Litig., 610 F.3d 1103, 1109 (9th Cir. 2010) (quoting
Berson v. Applied Sgnal Tech., Inc., 527 F.3d 982, 985 (9th Cir. 2008)). While a statement is npt
misleading simply because it is incomplete, it is #f@ocase that a “statemehat is literally true
can be misleading and thus actiblegaunder the seciies laws.” Brody v. Transitional Hospitals
Corp., 280 F.3d 997, 1006 (9th Cir. 2002).

Additionally, the false or misleadingagément must also be “materiaBodri v. GoPro,
Inc., 252 F. Supp. 3d 912, 922 (N.D Cal. 2017). “Adals misleading statement or omission is
material if there is a ‘substantial likelihood thia¢ disclosure of the omitted fact would have been
viewed by the reasonable investor as having sagmfly altered the ‘totahix’ of information
made available.”d. (quotingTSC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)).
While materiality should ordinarily be left todlrier of fact, “conclusorgllegations of law and
unwarranted inferences are insufficient to defeabton to dismiss for failure to state a claim.”
Reesev. Malone, 747 F.3d 557, 568 (9th Cir. 2014yerruled on other grounds by Align Tech.,
Inc., 856 F.3d 605.

1. Representations Relating to the Existence of the Contract.

Plaintiff contends, in essence, tleagry challenged representation made during the Clas

U7

Period is false or misleading for one simple oag he Supply Contract was not signed and, as|a
result, there was no agreement between NatubddéMedix in the fouth quarter of 2015. See
FAC 11 39, 42.) Because of this, Plaintiffjaes that it was misleading for Defendants to
announce the Supply Contract teestors, tout its potential befite to Natus Medical, and

include it in Natus Medical’s reveawguidance. Plaintiff, howevdras failed to adequately allegeg

that the Supply Contract was unexecuted.
12
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Plaintiff relies extensively on the allegat®of CW1 to support this contention. As
detailed above, CW1 is alleged to have bbert'Purchasing Coordinator” for the Venezuelan
Ministry of Health beginning ithe first quarter of 2016.I1d.  43.) According to the FAC, as

Purchasing Coordinator, CW1:

(1) was “responsible for prepag price quotes, handling and
maintaining information regarding payments due under contracts for
purchases and services, arithcking receipt of goods and
services|.]” (d. 1 40)

(2) had “oversight responsibilitior purchasing department buyers
and members of the Ministry of Health’s Commission on Purchasing
and Supplies.” I@d § 41.) This Commission, in turn, “advised the
Health Minister and maderecommendations on purchasing
decisions, including . . . appropte pricing and selection of
suppliers.” [d.) The Health Minister, however, had “ultimate
authority for negotiating final pres and other material contract
terms, and for executing contracts!'t.]

Plaintiff alleges that CW1 “confirms that the Siyp@ontract was not executed by the Ministry of
Health.” (d. 1 39.)

The PSLRA'’s patrticularity pleading requimments do not foreclose Plaintiff's reliance on
confidential witnesses. However, the PSLRA d®egiire that such sourcbs described “with
sufficient particularity to support the probabilttyat a person in the position occupied by the
source would possess the information allegadd that the complaint contain “adequate
corroborating details.”In re Daou Systems, Inc., 411 F.3d 1006, 1015 (9th Cir. 2005) (quoting
Nursing Home Pension Fund, Local 144 v. Oracle Corp., 380 F.3d 1226, 1233 (9th Cir. 2004)).

On this record, Plaintiff's reliance on CWlimadequate for two reasons. First, CW1 wa
“Purchasing Coordinator” for the Ministry éfealth beginning in the first quarter of 201 &fter
the Supply Contract was purportg@ixecuted. This is significant because Plaintiff's allegations
regarding the responsilties of the Purchasing Coordinatiw not plausibly suggest that an
individual in that role wouldhave personal knowledge about wiesta contract was (or was not)
signed months before that individual assumedalee At most, it appears that CW1 would have
personal knowledge about whether the MinistiyHealth was performing under the Supply
Contract in early 2016. For exala, CW1 would likely be in a position to state whether Supply

Contract payments were being preparedhgyMinistry of Health during this time.
13
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The second issue is closely related to theé fiferhaps recognizing that CW1 was not the

Purchasing Coordinator at the ned@at time, Plaintiff alleges:

According to CW1and based on information provided to CW1 by

the Purchasing Coordinator who immediately preceded him, as well
as two other individuals who weleurchasing Department buyers
and members of the Commission Puarchasing and Supplies during
the fourth quarter of 2015 . . . while the Supply Contract was
substantially negotiated leading tgthe fourth quarter of 2015, it
was not actually executed by the Ministry of Health.

(FAC 1 43 (emphasis added).) It thus appdlaat CW1's knowledgabout whether the Supply
Contract was or was not executaine from hearsay statementsoyd parties. While reliance
on hearsay does not disqualify a confidential @sgis statements from consideration, the Court
must “examine [the] confidential witness’s hearsay report to determine if it is ‘sufficiently relia
plausible, or coherent.”Digimarc, 552 F.3d at 997 n.4. Plaintiff has not provided enough
information from which the Court can conduct timquiry. Plaintiff has not alleged what CW1
was told by the prior Purchasing Director ag tPurchasing Department buyers. In addition, he
has not provided any context surrounding whemy, or how these indiduals provided CW1

with information regarding theupply Contract. Instead, he simg@iates the conclusion that the
“information provided” to CW1 dmonstrates the Supply Contraghs not executed. Such a
conclusory assertion, withouhya supporting context, makesmpossible for the Court to

determine if the statements are sufficieritgliable, plausiké, or coherent."Compare Lloyd v.

CVB Fin. Corp., 811 F.3d 1200, 1208 (9th Cir. 2016) (“Here, the statements reported by the ¢

were specific in time, context, and detailsgdanvolved important commucations from a chief
executive officer to the Board. They ardfigiently reliable for pleading purposes.”).
In sum, Plaintiff has not plead suffictdiacts to “support the probability” that CW1

possesses information regarding whetherSupply Contract was executdd.re Daou Systems,

Inc., 411 F.3d at 1015. The Court, however, will affidintiff leave to amend these allegations,

Plaintiff must include specific allegations relafito what the prior Fehasing Coordinator and
Purchasing Department buyers told CW1 and theexdim which these disssions occurred. In
addition, Plaintiff should include additional ajkgions regarding the leof the Purchasing

Coordinator and Commission on Purchasing and Siwgplithe Ministry of Health generally and
14
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in the negotiation of contractsore specifically. On the cunt allegations, Plaintiff has
established a probabilithat an individual in the role ¢furchasing Coordinator would be in a
position to know whether tieupply Contract was beingplemented. This, however, is a
distinct question from whether an individual in that positivould know whether the Supply
Contract was eveexecuted.

Having found that Plaintiff failso adequately allege thidte Supply Contract unexecuted,
the Court makes the following two observations. Ffgtlaintiff is able to adequately allege that
the Supply Contract was unexecubedhe fourth quarter 2015, thadll have major implications
for how the Court views the othehallenged statements. For the remainder of this order, the
Court will examine the challenged statementthasigh the Supply Contract was executed (insof
as Plaintiff has, as of now, failed to adequatdigge the contrary). Hower, in any subsequent
motion to dismiss, it would be useful for theuCoif Defendants included alternative arguments,
addressing whether each challengsgtesentation would be falserarsleading both if the Supply
Contract had been executed and if it had not.

Second, the Court finds it necessary to addarsssue resulting from the parties’ briefing
As discussed above, Plaintiff's counsel hasftdd a FAC that takes the position the Supply
Contract was not executed in the fourth quast&2015. The filing of this FAC contains certain
implicit representations by counsel regarding éixistence of a sufficient basis for those
allegations.See Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b). In support of tleply brief (and direity responding to an
argument made in Plaintiff's oppasih brief), Defendants’ counskés attached what purports to
be a copy of the Supply Contraotecuted in October 20155¢¢ Dkt. No. 22-1.) Defense
counsel has sworn, under penaltyefjury, that the attached docurhena “true ad correct copy
of the signed agreement.” (Dkt. No. 37.) Twmurt has not addresstus purportedly signed
copy of the Supply Contract because, even assuming it is properly pdetetite Court at the
pleading stage, the Court cannotv adjudicate the disputegiestion of whether the Supply
Contract was actually executed. eT@ourt notes, however, that it is cognizant of the fact that
counsel have made diametrically opposed represamsao the Court. The Court therefore finds

it necessary to remind all counsel of (1) theofpssional obligations relag to the presentation
15
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of facts and arguments before the Court, andh@need to conduct a suffent investigation into
their respective positions betthey make any furtherpeesentation to the Courgee Fed. R.
Civ. P. 11;see also Cal. R. Prof. Conduct 5-200.

2. Defendants’Representatiors Regarding the Prepayments.

Many of the challenged statements on whidrRiff relies involve the prepayments under

the Supply Contract. The Supplypract called for the Ministry dfiealth to make a prepayment
of $69,262,000.00. (Dkt. No. 29-2, Supply Contract, cl. £@)bis prepayment was to be made
in three installments: (1) $24,413,410.95 @aober 2015; (2) $22,669,595.89 due November
2015; and (3) $22,669,595.89 due December 20itb) Plaintiff argues that Defendants
repeatedly misrepresented when the prepaymests due and then failed to disclose when the
Ministry of Health defaulted othese payments. Plaintiff challges four specific statement

related to the prepayments:

(1) October 15, 2015, Form 8-K: *“Prepayments totaling
approximately $69 million are egpted by the first quarter of
2016.” (FAC 150.)

(2) October 21, 2015, ConferencellCGatatement by Hawkins: “We
expect to receive some payments here by the end of the year, to start
those three payments totaling the $69 million. And then to — most
likely those would extend into thea$t quarter of nexyear.” (FAC

157)

(3) November 19, 2015, Healthcare Conference Statement by
Hawkins: “We are looking to get our first payment in by the end of
the year, and those payments vebabntinue throughout the life of
the contract.” (FAC { 65.)

(4) December 1, 2015, Healtmea Conference Statement by

Hawkins: “We look for some of thegevenues to start in December.

We expect to get our first $23iliion payment inthe weeks ahead

and then we’ll be prepaid on all thfis as we go forward on a rolling

basis.” (FAC { 71.)
The Court concludes that Plafhhas sufficiently alleged that the October 21, November 19, an
December 1 statements redalse and misleading.

As to the October 15, 2015 statement, howeherCourt finds that Plaintiff has failed to

2 Defendant’s unopposed request for the Court to take judicial noticeiofisSEC filings that
are referenced in the FAC is GRANTED.
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allege a false or misleading statement. Plaint#inet that this statement “failed to disclose that
... three independent pre-payments were seghai@due in October, November, and December
2015.” (FAC 1 51.) However, Ptdiff does not dispute that thidatement was true, at least
technically. Under the terms of the Supplyn@act, the $69 million prepayment would be
received “by the first quarter @016.” The simple fact that thegss release statement could hay
included more detail regarding the timing of firepayments, without more, does not render the
statement misleadingsee, e.g., Inre Tut Sys,, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 01-cv-02659, 2002 WL
35462358 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 15, 2002) (“Plaintiffs faDefendants for failing to provide more
details regarding the extent of the reservas Would need to be booked . . .. However,
Defendants’ failure to disclose more specifibirmation at an earlier date does not amount to
fraud.”); see also Brody, 280 F.3d at 1006 (“Rule 10b-5..in terms prohibit[spnly misleading

and untrue statements, not statements that eoenjplete.”). Plainff has not explained how
Defendants’ failure to providaore granular detail regardinige timing of the prepayments
created an “impression of a stafeaffairs that differ[ed] in anaterial way from the one that
actually exists.”ld. (emphasis added). If Plaintiff wishesrtédy on this statement, he will need tg
provide additional factual allegatis to demonstrate why this statent, which appears consistent
with the terms of the Supply Contract, was nbekss materially false or misleading.

For the October 21, 2015 statement, Plaingifforrect that the statement was arguably
misleading. Whereas Hawkins representedtti@$69 million prepayment would “start” in 2015
and likely continue into 2016, he fad to disclose that the terrobthe Supply Contract called for
the entire $69 million prepayment to be receitagdhe end of 2015. The Court finds Plaintiff ha
plausibly alleged that Hawkinstatement was false or misleadings to materiality, the Court
finds, for purposes of the pleadiatage, that a reasonable investould view the true, shorter,
payment schedule under the Supply Contract gsifssantly alter[ing] the ‘total mix’ of
information made available.Bodri, 252 F. Supp. 3d at 922

For similar reasons, the Court finds that & has adequately alleged that Hawkins’

November and December 2015 statements regarding the first prepayment were materially false «

misleading. Hawkins represented to invesiarNovember and December that Defendants
17
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expected to receive the Sup@pntract’s first prepayment by the end of the year. These
statements effectively represented that the Supphtract simply called for the first prepayment
to be received by the end of 2015. As alredidgussed, however, Hawkins’ statement omitted
the fact that the Ministry of éhlth was required to make prepayments in October, November,
December 2015. This omission was significant beea the time Hawkins made his Novembet
and December statements, the Ministry eflth had defaulted on its first and second
prepayments, respectively. Taking all inferenceBlaintiff’'s favor, Hawkins’ statement was
more than just incomplete; rathércreated an “impression of [tl8upply Contract] that differ[ed]
... from the one that actually exist[ed]sire Cutera, 610 F.3d at 1109. The Court has no
problem concluding for purposes of the pleaditage that investsiwould have found the
Ministry of Health’s default to be materiahccordingly, the Court fids that Plaintiff has
adequately alleged that Hawkins made matermail§leading statements by effectively hiding the
Supply Contract’s prepayment schedwaed thus the Ministry of Healthtéefault, from investors.

Defendant argues, however, that these statesmesre “forward looking” and are therefore
immunized under the PSLRA’s safe harbor pransi Under the safe harbor, a “defendant will
not be liable for a false or misleadistatement if it is forward-looking armither is accompanied
by cautionary languag® is made without actual knowledteat it is false or misleading.'nre
Quality Sys., Inc. Sec. Litig., 865 F.3d 1130, 1142 (9th Cir. 2017). A “forward looking” stateme
is “any statement regarding (1) financial prdjen, (2) plans and objectives of management for
future operations, (3) future economic performaicg4) the assumptions underlying or related
to any of these.”Inre Leapfrog Enter., Inc. Sec. Litig., 200 F. Supp. 3d 987, 1004 (N.D. Cal.
2016) (quotingBartlet v. Affymax, Inc., No. 13-cv-01025-WHO, 2014 WL 231551, at *13 (N.D.
Cal. Jan. 21, 2014)). Significantly, the Ninth Qitdhas recognized that the safe harbor is

inapplicable to misleading statentgiof current or past facts:

[T]he safe harbor is not desighdéo protect companies and their
officials when they knowingly maka materially false or misleading
statement about current or pastcts. Nor is the safe harbor
designed to protect them wheneyhmake a materially false or
misleading statement about currentpast facts, and combine that
statement with a forward-looking statement.

18
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Seelnre Quality Sys,, Inc., 865 F.3d at 1142.

The Court finds that Defendant Hawkingt@ments regarding the prepayments are not
“forward looking” statements for purposestbé PSLRA safe harbor. The Court acknowledges
that each of the three statements discusisedeacontain a forwarabking component, namely
that Defendants “expected” to receive the first prepayment by the end of the year. Notably,
however, Hawkins’ stated “expeatat” related directly to a terraf the Supply Contract, and both
the Supply Contract and its termere existing, present facts. rkher, Hawkins’ statement was
made in the context of a larger statement atimiformation of the SuppiContract and its total
value, again, both statements of present f@ten this context, and the nature of Hawkins’
statements, the Court concludeattthe challenged statemeitsluded implicit representations
that the stated “expectation” was consistent WithSupply Contract’s termOn the facts alleged,
this implicit representation was, at bestsk@ading given the Supplyontract’'s prepayment
schedule and (for the November and Decembegrataits) the Ministry of Health’s default.
Accordingly, by announcing that lexpected the first prepaymeanstallment by the end of the
year, without qualification or elaboration, Wikins made an omission of present fagteInre
Celera Corp. Sec. Litig., No. 5:10-cv-02604 EJD, 2013 WL 26097, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 3,
2013) (“[T]he failure to alertnvestors to the reimbursemenbplem was not forward-looking;
rather, it was an omission of a historical factsge also Inre CV Therapeutics, Inc., No. 03-CV-
03709-SI, 2004 WL 1753251, at *10.M Cal. Aug. 5, 2004) (“[W]hen the defendants possess
and failed to disclose detailed informatidsoat the FDA’s serious servations concerning
Raxena’s safety and efficacy, they failed to disclustorical facts. Thesakct that defendants used
those inadequately disclosed bistal facts to support unsoundjgctions does not shield their
alleged misrepresentationsfasvard-looking statements.”).

3. Kennedy’'s Representation Regarding Currency Exchange Risk

During the October 21, 2015 conference calfeddant Kennedy allegedly asserted that
the Supply Contract presented a “minimal” curseagchange risk because the Supply Contract’
payments were “denominated in dollars, and payment is a dollar-denominated payment.”

(FAC 1 63.) Plaintiff asserts this was misleading to investors bed¢ha Supply Contract, in fact,
19
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required that payments be made in “Argentinfesos at the current exchange rate for the
effective date of payment.{Supply Contract, cl. 4.)

First, Plaintiff has abandoned this thebgyfailing to respond to Defendants’ arguments
regarding it in his oppositioto the motion to dismissSee Homsy v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 13-
cv-01608 LB., 2013 WL 2422781, at *5 (N.D. Cal. J@&013) (“[W]here a plaintiff simply
fails to address a patrticular claim in its oppiosi to a motion to dismiss that claim, courts
generally dismiss it witlpprejudice.”). Second, on the merits, Plaintiff has failed to allege how
Kennedy's statement was false or misleading. In fact, the very terms of the Supply Contract

suggest that Kennedy’s statement was @teu The Supply Contract provides:

The payment by [the Ministry of ¢&lth] to [Medix] shall be made
through Debt Representative Settes (VRD) in US Dollars and
payable in Argentinian Pesos at the current exchange rate for the
effective day of payment . . ..

(Supply Contract, cl. 4.) Thegxise payments are then detine American dollars. For
example, the entire prepayment is defined as a payment of $69,752@pAJnder the terms of
the Supply Contract, the nun&f Argentinian pesos needed to satisfy the $69,752,602 amoult
would depend on the exchange ratt¢he time of payment, btite underlying dollar value of the
payment would not change. In lighitthese facts, Plaintiff hasilied to allege facts showing that
Kennedy’s representations regarding the currexcphange risk were false or misleading.

4. Representations Regarding Medix’s Hor Ministry of Health Contract.

In the FAC, Plaintiff alleges that Defemda improperly sought tbolster investors’
perception of the Supply Contrdmt misrepresenting Medix’s pri@greement with the Ministry

of Health. Plaintiff alleges Defendandid this on two separate occasions:

(1) October 21, 2015, Conference Call Statement by Kennedy:
“[TIhis isn’'t the first contractwith Venezuela that Medix has
entered into. So this isa continuation of an ongoing
relationship. . .. Swhen we acquired Medix in 2010, they had just
completed, | want to say, about a $100 million deal with
Venezuela.” (FAC 1 61.)

(2) November 19, 2015 Healthrea Conference Statement by
Hawkins: “Yes, so, always a potential risk with any contract. The
one thing | would say with th one, before we bought our
subsidiary, which is located in Buenos Aires, which is who received

20
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this order, a company called Medix, they had received an $82
million order maybe seven years ago and it came through just fine.
The money showed up as expected and it did happen.” (FAC 1 67.)

According to Plaintiff, the prior contractual agreent between Medix and the Ministry of Health
does not match the “rosy”gure painted by Defendants.

Plaintiff relies primarily on three confidgal witnesses to suppdttis assertion. CW1,
discussed above in connection witie assertion that the Sup@pntract was unexecuted, states
that she “learned” that the piieus contract “failed to comt® completion and was cancelled or
suspended when the final amounts owing undectntract were not paid to Medix by the
Ministry of Health.” (FAC Y 44.) CW2, who aleged to be Natus Medical's former Medical
Director of Operations in Argent) states that the “contract wNtenezuela was always in the air
Medix was always trying to close it.'1d; § 45.) CW?2 also reports aishory of difficulties with
payments with Venezuela.ld)) Finally, CW3, Natus Medical’s former Latin American
Regional Sales Manager, similarly reports tipatyment of the contract was done one or two
months before | left the company” and that thet fEayment was a “very late payment. One or tv
years late.” I@d. 1 46.)

Plaintiff, however, fails to mvide sufficient detail to suppoan inference that Defendants
account was materially misleading. As to CW1jshalleged to have been the Ministry of
Health’'s Purchasing Coordinator starting irbfeeary 2016. (FAC 9 40.) The prior contract,
however, was entered into in 2010. Plaintiff sloet allege facts explaining how CW1 has
personal knowledge about the details of a cahtrnich was allegedly executed and performed
years before she assumed his role with the Ministry of Health. Instead, Plaintiff simply allege
CW1 “learned” of this fact from an undiseked source at an undisclosed time. This is
insufficient. Cf. Digimarc, 552 F.3d at 997 n.4 (“[A] hearsay statent, while not automatically
precluded . . . may indicate thetonfidential withesses’ report is not sufficiently reliable,
plausible, or coherent to warramtther consideration . . . .")Further, CW2'’s statement vaguely
refers to a “history of difficulties’ regardingayments with the Ministry of Health, without
providing any detail regarding timature or pervasiveness of teadifficulties. Finally, although

CWS3’s account of a “one to two years late” payis in tension with Defendant Hawkins’
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representation that theoney “came through just fine” or “shew up as expected” (FAC { 67),
the prior contract apparentigvolved multiple payments wth close to $100 million. Without
more detailed allegations regarding the circumstances into this late payment, or the alleged
“history of difficulties,” the Court is unable to determine whether Defendants’ representations
regarding the prior cordct were false or misleading (let alone in a material sense).

5. Defendant’s Fourth Quarter/Full Year 2015 Guidance Adjustment.

Plaintiff next contends th&efendants misled investdny including revenue from the
Supply Contract in Natus Medical’s fourth gtea and full year 2015 revenue guidance. On
October 21, 2015, Defendants filed a Form 8-K whita SEC which increased the fourth quarter
revenue guidance from $102.0 million to $105.0 wmilland full-year guidance from $378 million
to $381 million. (FAC 1 53.) In a quote, DefendBlatwkins attributed this increased guidance,
in part, to the Supply Contract: “In additiondar record performance during the quarter, we
recently secured a $235 million, three-year agmdrhetween our Argentina subsidiary Medix,
and the Venezuelan Ministry of Health.I'd)

In the FAC, Plaintiff argues that factoring the Supply ConirdotNatus Medical’'s
revenue guidance was false and misleading forreasons: (1) the Supply Contract was not
executed and (2) even if exeed, the Supply Contract’s Venezuelan choice of law provision
rendered Natus Medical without any meansfééctively enforcingts rights under that
agreement. The Court has already disposededirst of these theories above. The second fare
no better. The Court begins by noting that Ritiihas again abandoned this theory by failing to
defend (or even reference) it in leigposition to the motion to dismisSee Homsy, 2013 WL
2422781, at *5 (“[W]here a plaintiff simply fails taldress a particular claim in its opposition to &
motion to dismiss that claim, courtsngeally dismiss it withprejudice.”).

Second, even addressing the theory on itsten®laintiff has failed to support it with
sufficient factual allegations. The FAC reliegiexty on a single quotation from a 2014 report by
the “International Commission of Jst$” suggesting that the “failes by the authorities, as well
as interference, intimidation,latrary suspensions and oth@essures” have “undermined

independence and impartiality of the countrydgeas and prosecutors.” (FAC Y 48.) This single
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guote, devoid of context, does not support Pldistxpansive conclusion that any party who
enters into a contract with the government oh&zeula and chooses therezuelan courts as the
forum for resolving disputes &ffectively left without a mmedy for enforcing its rights.
Accordingly, if Plaintiff intendgo proceed with this theory, éll have to include additional
factual allegations which give rise an inference that the Sup©Contract’s choice of forum
provision rendered Defendantspresentations about that agreement false or misleading.

In addition to the October 21, 2015 statetramouncing the increased revenue guidancq
Plaintiff also challenges Defenala’ subsequent touting tfat increased guidance during
November and December. During the healtle conferences held during these months,
Defendant Hawkins allegedly reiterated ther@ased guidance (FAC §%, 71) and lauded the
Supply Contract as one reason for thigl.) ( Plaintiff has adequatelylaged that these statements
were materially misleading. As discussed above, at the time Defendant Hawkins made thes
statements, the Ministry of Health had ddtied on its prepayments under the Supply Contract,
thus undercutting the basis for that guidancetebsant Hawkins, however, did not disclose this
fact to investors, thus rendering his statemamnsteading. The Court furer rejects Defendants’
contention that these statements are protectéleby SLRA’s safe harbor. As with the related
representations, discussed above, that prepayments were “eXbgdteel end of the year, the
Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alle¢jeat Defendants made an omission of present fa
by failing to disclose this defaulSee Inre CV Therapeutics, Inc., 2004 WL 1753251, at *1G@ge
also Loftusv. Primero Mining Corp., 230 F. Supp. 3d 1209 (C.D. Cal. 2017) (“[B]ecause
Plaintiffs allege that the way ihich Primero’s representationisaat future tax projections were
misleading was by omitting already-existing historical facts, the Court finds that these
representations are not protectedioy safe harbor provisions.”).

6. Defendants’ 2016 Representations.

Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants tiomed to make materially false or misleading
statements into 2016, after the truth about theidtty of Health’s default on the prepayments
came to light. Plaintiff, howevehas failed to allege facts givinge to an inference that these

statements were materially false or misleading.
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First, Plaintiff challenges a number of stagns made by Defendants in January 2016 th
Natus Medical’'s 2015 revenue shortfall was due to a “delay” in the SupplyaCt's prepayment.
(See FAC 11 75, 80, 82.) This statement was literallg tand it disclosed tavestors the fact that
the prepayment—which Defendaritad previously announced wagected by the end of 2015—
had not been received. In both the FAC amddgpposition, Plaintiff arguakat Defendant failed
to disclose that the “Ministry of Health was actually latealdrthree of its pre-payments under the
terms of the Supply Contract.” (FAC | 7R)aintiff, however, does not explain why it was
materially false or misleading for Defendantseter to a “delay” in the Supply Contract’s
prepayment as opposed to providing the more gaanidtail Plaintiff noncontends should have
been given.See, e.g., Brody, 280 F.3d at 1006 (“Rule 10b-5 . in terms prohibit[spnly
misleading and untrue statements, not statements that are incomplete.”).

Second, Plaintiff contends thaefendants’ inclusion of SupplContract revenue in Natus
Medical’'s 1Q and full year 2016 revenue guidawes false or misleading. In various January
filings and conference calls, B@dants announced that thesfiquarter and full year 2016
revenue guidance would include $5.0 milliord&®0.0 million, respectively, from the Supply
Contract. $ee FAC | 75,seealso Dkt. No. 29- 14.) In arguing &t this was misleading, Plaintiff
relies entirely on the prior failugf the Ministry of Health to niee the prepayment installments.
As just discussed, however, thetfghat the prepayment had rasen received as initially
expected was disclosed to isters. Plaintiff alleges naéts, known to Defendants but unknown
to investors, which would give rise to arfidrence that it was misleading for Defendants to
include Supply Contract revenue in the guiddigeres. The Court also notes that the Supply
Contract provided for a three year term; the missed prepayments did not constitute the entire
even a majority, of that agreemént.

Third, Plaintiff challenges a March 12016 conference call statement by Defendant

Hawkins. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges it wésse or misleading for Hawkins to state “[W]e

% The Court also believes that Defendants has&ong argument that the 2016 guidance would
protected by the PSLRA’s safe harbor. BecauseCiburt concludes Plaintiff has failed to allege
sufficient facts showing this venue guidance was false or remtling when made, however, the
Court need not address tlggestion at this time.
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really believe this is going toappen” (referring to the Supply Caoatt) after noting that analysts
could discount the expected rewes from the Supply Contract. A€ 1 97.) The Court finds this
statement to be non-actionable puffeBge, e.g., Inre Cutera, 610 F.3d at 1111 (“This mildly
optimistic, subjective assessment hardly amoungssiecurities violation. Indeed, professional
investors, and most amateur investors as ety how to devalue thoptimism of corporate
executives.” (internal quotation marks omittedi¥e also Robb v. Fithit Inc., 216 F. Supp. 3d
1017, 1028 (N.D. Cal. 2016) (“[S]tatements thedrely express confidence in a company’s
business and outlook are vague assertiogsiiorate optimism and are not actionable under
federal securities laws.”).

7. Summary.

For the reasons just stated, the Court does thatsPlaintiff has sufficiently alleged that
the November and December 2015 statements liegafd) the anticipatetiming for receipt of
the prepayment under the Supply Contract, ahde&atement of increased revenue guidance
were materially false or mislesg). Plaintiff, however, hasifad to allege sufficient facts
showing that the various other statements ladl@hges in the FAC were materially false or
misleading within the meaning tfe PSLRA. The Court, howevaevill afford Plaintiff leave to
file a second amended complaint to plead tamithl facts giving rise to an inference that
Defendants’ other statements were, in fact, false or misleading. If Plaintiff intends to abando
arguments that certain statements or omissiome mesleading (for example, the choice of forum
provision or the “exchange rislstatement), he shall not replethdse in the second amended
complaint.

B. Plaintiff Has Failed to Raisea Strong Inference of Scienter.

The Court has found that Pl&ffis FAC sufficiently allegeghat certain statements made
by Defendant Hawkins in November and DecenfH 5 were false or misleading. The PSLRA
requires that Plaintiff “stateitin particularity facts giving rise to a strong inference that the
defendant acted with the requdrstate of mind” irmaking those statements. 15 U.S.C. § 78u-
4(b)(2)(A).

The Ninth Circuit has explaingbat the “required state of mind “a mental state that not
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only covers ‘intent to deceive, mi@ulate, or defraud,” but alsdeliberate recklessness.thre
Quality Sys., 865 F.3d at 1144 (quotirfchueneman v. Arena Pharms., 840 F.3d 698, 705 (9th
Cir. 2016)). To determine whether Plaintiff hagaqulately plead a “strong inference” of scienter
the Court must ask: “When théemations are accepted as taral taken colldosely, would a
reasonable person deem the influence of sciastérast as strong as any opposing inference?”
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 324 (2007Yhis requires a dual
inquiry. First, the Court must “determine whet any of the plainffis allegations, standing
alone, is sufficient to createstrong inference of scienterlh re NVIDIA Corp. Securities Litig.,
768 F.3d 1046, 1056 (9th Cir. 2014). Second, if nagatien is alone suffieint, the Court then
“consider[s] the allegations holistically to detene whether they creatf strong inference of
scienter taken together.1d()

Plaintiff first argues that thiact that the Supply Contraaias not executed provides strong
evidence of scienter. This argument fails bec&lamtiff has not adequately alleged that the
Supply Contract was unexecuted. Plaintiff eimost exclusively on CW1's statements to
support his conclusion that tiseipply Contract was unexecdteAs detailed above, however,
Plaintiff has failed to allege sufficient fact®fn which it can be inferred that CW1'’s based his
statements on his own personal knowledge loeroteliable sources. As such, Plaintiff's
contention that the Supply Contract was unexetdtes not give rise @ strong inference of
scienter. See, e.g., Zucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 996 (“Some of tleenfidential withesses were
simply not positioned to know the information alleged, many report only unreliable hearsay, 4
others allege conclusory assertions of scientdérese allegations are not sufficient to raise a
strong inference of scienter because theyalestnate that the congatial witnesses are not
reliable.”).

Plaintiff also contends th&iefendants’ “subtl[y] shiftingtepresentations regarding the
Supply Contract’s prepayment terms suppoftading of scienter. The Court has found that
Plaintiff has adequately alleged that HawkiNgvember and December 2015 statements that th
prepayment was “expected” by the end of 2015 wasteading due to his failure to disclose the

Ministry of Health’s default. Plaintiff, hower, has failed to allegeny facts supporting an
26

and

e




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R
0o ~N o 00~ W N PP O © 00w ~N o o M W N B O

inference that Hawkins was deliberately recklasmaking this statement or intended to mislead
investors. See Inre Quality Sys., 865 F.3d at 1144. Given the nature of these allegedly
misleading statements, the Court cannot strongly sdeenter simply from the fact the statement
were made. Even as alleged by Plaintiff, theyreot direct falsehoods wdh conflict with a clear
provision of the Supply ContracRather, they are statementgaeding Hawkins’ “expectations”
which, taking all inferences in Plaintiff's favamplicitly created a misleading impression about
the Supply Contract’'s prepayment schedule. WRiigentiff claims that Hawkins’ statements
reflect a “deliberate effort to copal the true state of affairs,” te@atements are also subject to a
competing inference that they were intendeddamothing more than Hawkins’ then-held belief
about when payments actually would be reedjand that any meshding implication was
inadvertent or the result of an oversigBee, e.g., Zucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 991 (plaintiff must
plead a “highly unreasonable omission, involvirgg merely simple, or even inexcusable
negligence” (citation omitted)). Isum, these challenged statements may give rise to a possib
(or even reasonable) inferencesofenter, but the Coufinds that they do najive rise to the
necessary strong inferensased on the facts allegéd.

Finally, in the FAC, Plaitiff relies on Hawkins’ andennedy’s stock purchases to
establish scienter. “Unusual’ or ‘suspiciossdck sales by corporate insiders may constitute
circumstantial evidence of scienter. . .Iti re Quality Systems, 865 F.3d at 1146 (citation
omitted). To determine whether a stock sale is suspicious, the Court constdestia, three
factors: “(1) the amount and pert¢age of shares sold; (2) timing thfe sales; and (3) consistency
with prior trading history.” Id. (quotingNursing Home Pension Fund, Local 144 v. Oracle Corp.,
380 F.3d 1226, 1232 (9th Cir. 2004)). The NinthcGit has explained that stock sales by a
company’s insiders are “'suspatis only when [they are] dramnzally out of line with prior
trading practices at times calated to maximize the persoria@nefit from undisclosed inside

information.” Align Tech, 856 F.3d at 621 (quotingucco Partners, 552 F.3d at 1005).

* For similar reasons, Plaintiff's reliance on Havkistatement that “[w]e have been told the
money is set aside” (and related statements) is imgyaPlaintiff pleadsno facts which give rise
to a strong inference (as opposedpeculation) that the statementsre made with the requisite
state of mind.
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Plaintiff alleges that in October 2015, Kennedy sold 28,958 shares of Natus Medical stock

worth a total of $1,323,905. (FAC 1 104.) During October and November 2015, Hawkins so|d

200,000 shares worth a total of $9,422,098. § 106.) This is aund the time that Natus
Medical’s share price allegedigached its all-time high and after Defendants had announced t
Supply Contract. Seeid.  12.) However, “[e]Jven assuming Defendants sold their stocks at a

price that was close to the stock’s all-timgh, ‘this alone is nagufficient for scienter

purposes.” Fadiav. FireEye, Inc., 14-cv-05204-EJD, 2016 WL 6679806, at *16 (N.D. Cal. Nov.

14, 2016) (quotingnre Tut Sys., Inc., 2002 WL 35462358, at *11).
The FAC argues that the suspiciousned3afeéndants’ fourth quarter 2015 sales is

highlighted by the fact that Defendants’ grosscpeals from the sale “are more than three times

greater than the gross proceeds from [Defendasitsck sales during the six months preceding the

Class Period.” (FAC { 103.) In fact, comparthe purportedly suspicious sales to Defendants’

trading history over a longer ped of time suggests the fourth quarter 2015 stock sales were not
“dramatically out of line” with Defendants’ pri@ractices. During the fourth quarter of 2014 (one

year prior to the announcementtbé Supply Contract), Defendant Hawkins sold 270,000 shares

of Natus Medical stock, whilBefendant Kennedy sold 45,833shs. (Dkt. No. 29-21; 29-22))
Both figures are significantly high¢han the number of shareg#e Defendants sold as part of
their allegedly “suspicious” stock transactiorsurther, during the fourth quarter of 2013,
Hawkins sold 206,878 shares of Natus Medical stiwckyer reinforcing the inference that it was
not unusual for him to make large foudharter sales of Natus Medical stoclseg Dkt. No. 29-

21, at2.)

In the face of this prior trading history, Riaff contends that the fourth quarter 2015 sales

® Defendants have submitted copies of the SEC Form 4 filed by both Defendants in the fourtl
quarter of 2014 and (for Defendant Hawkinsjrth quarter of 2013 to show the Defendants’
stock sales during this time. Even though theseichents (or the information contained therein)
were not directly referenced the FAC, the Court may consider them. Plaintiff does not
challenge the authenticity of thedecuments. Further, Plaintiff's scienter allegations in the FA(
rely extensively on Defendantaflegedly suspicious trading gp@rns, information which is
disclosed to the public through the Form 4nder these circumstances, the Court may take
judicial notice of the Form 4See, e.g., In re Solarcity Corp. Securities Litig., 274 F. Supp. 3d

972, 988 (N.D. Cal. 2017%ity of Royal Oak Retirement Sys. v. Juniper Networks, Inc., 880 F.
Supp. 2d 1045, 1059 (N.D. Cal. 2012)
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are still suspicious because tr@ss proceeds realized from the sale far exceeded those of prior
sales. Plaintiff, however, does not cite any das¢éhe authority that courts should look to the
realized proceeds of a sale, ahd Court has located none. Instethe relevant authority directs
the Court to examine “the amoumtdapercentage of shares soldti're Quality Systems, 865 F.3d
at 1146. As stated above, the number of stsiesby these Defendants thg the fourth quarter
of 2015 does not appear suspiciouight of Defendants’ trading &iory. Further, Plaintiff has
not plead any facts regardingethercentage of their holdings Hawkins and Kennedy sold durin
the fourth quarter 2015, so the Court cannot compé&édithe Defendants’ prior sales. On this
record, the Court finds that the evidence ofdddants’ prior trading history undermines any
inference of scienter that magherwise have arisen from Defendants’ fourth quarter 2015 stoc
sales’ See, e.g., Kovtun v. VIVUS Inc., No. 10-cv-4957-PJH, 2012 WL 4477647, at *21 (N.D.
Cal. Sept. 27, 2012)n re Tibco Software, Inc., No. 05-cv-2146-SBA2006 WL 1469654, at *21
(N.D. Cal. May 25, 2006).

In light of the above, the Court finds that Rt#f has failed to pleafhcts giving rise to a
“strong” inference of scientér.Specifically, the Court believesattiff has not demonstrated that
the “malicious inference iat least as compelling asyaopposing innocent inferenceZucco
Partners, 552 F.3d at 1006. Accordingly, Defendants'timio to dismiss Plaintiff's section 10(b)
claim is granted and the claim will be dismiss&dhe Court will, however, afford Plaintiff leave
to amend to plead additional factterant to the quémn of scientef.

C. Because the Section 10(b) Claim Fajlthe Section 20(a) Claim Also Fails.
Because Plaintiff has failed to adequatelgge a violation of Section 10(b), his section

20(a) claim necessarily failsee, e.g., Align Tech., 856 F.3d at 623 (“Plaintiff has not sufficiently

® This ruling is obviously withouprejudice to Plaintiff allegingdditional facts in his amended
complaint which would suggestat, notwithstanding DefendaHawkins’ and Defendant
Kennedy'’s prior fourth quarter stock sales, fimgrth quarter 2015 sales were suspicious.

" The Court does not address, because it need not at this stage, Defendant’s argument that
Medical’'s repurchase of stodetween October 2015 and Mh 2016 negates a finding of
scienter.

8 Because the Court has found that Plaintiff hdedao adequately allege scienter, it need not
address the parties’ losausation arguments.
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alleged violatons of Sectin 10(b) and Rule 10b-b6 And, without ‘a primeary violation of federal
securities law; Plaintiff cannot estabsh control grson liability.” (citation omitted)).
Accordingly, Defendantsmotion to dsmiss this @im is gramed, but Plaitiff will be afforded
leave to amed.
CONCLUSION

For thereasons stad above,lte Court firds that whié Plaintiff has alleged tht certain
staements mae in Novenber and Deember 20% were falseor misleadng, he hasdled to
allege that Déendants mde those staments wih the requisi¢ state of nmd. As a reult,
Defendant’smotion to disniss is GRANTED andPlaintiff's Section 10(h and Sectin 20(a)
clams are DISIISSED. The Court, bwever, afords Plaintif leave to anend the AC so he ma
attempt to cue the deficiecies identiied by thisOrder.

Plaintiff shall file his second mended complaint byFriday, April 6, 2018

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: Februey 26, 2018
’ Cofhun f 07—

JEFFREY/S/ Wny
Unitéd Stdtes Digdrict Judge
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